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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

AT KNOXVILLE 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  )  
      ) 
   Plaintiff,   ) 
      )  No. 3:12-CR-107 
v.      )  
      )  (PHILLIPS/SHIRLEY) 
MICHAEL R. WALLI,   ) 
MEGAN RICE, and    ) 
GREG BOERTJE-OBED   ) 
      ) 
   Defendant.  ) 
 

 
MOTION TO DISMISS NEW SABOTAGE CHARGE  

IN SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 
 

Now into Court come Defendants Michael Walli, Sister Megan Rice, and Greg Boertje-

Obed who ask this Court to dismiss the new sabotage charges under 18 U.S.C. §§ 2155(a) and 

2152 against defendants.  It is unconstitutional to add twenty years of more serious additional 

charges against defendants whose only new action is to exercise their constitutional rights.   Such 

prosecutorial action constitutes unconstitutional vindictive, wrongful, and selective prosecution.  

As applied in this case, the charge of sabotage, which is rarely applied to civilian conduct, is 

unconstitutionally vague and overbroad.  Sabotage is wrongfully brought in this matter because 

Y-12 is not a military base but a private contractor site and thus the statute does not apply.  

Finally, as set out in defendants’ original motion to dismiss charges, the United States has no 

business upgrading and refurbishing weapons of mass destruction like the nuclear weapons being 

worked on at Y-12 and thus criminal charges against non-violent symbolic actions to expose and 

disarm such illegal activity (for which the US would call heroic if done in Iran, North Korea or 

Pakistan) must be dismissed under U.S. and U.S.-based international law. 
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A.  The Sabotage Charges are Punishment for Defendants Exercising Their 
Constitutional Right to a Jury Trial 

 
“In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public 
trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been 
committed . . . .” 
 Amendment VI of the U.S. Constitution 

 
 

The government seeks to add a new charge which imposes an additional twenty years in 

prison on each defendant because they chose to exercise their constitutional right to a jury trial.   

The newly added charge and possible penalty is unconstitutional because it is disproportionate, 

arbitrary for the prosecution to try to impose it, and it is vindictive.  

It is illogical and unjust that a person has a constitutional right to a jury trial but it is OK 

for the government to punish them and put them in jail for twenty years for exercising that right.  

Does it make sense that a person has a First Amendment right to speak out or publish but the 

government also has the right to put them in jail for doing it?  Of course not.   No more so in the 

context of the Sixth Amendment. 

The Justice Department secured guilty pleas in 97% of the cases it brought in 2011, up 

from 84% in 1990.1  Certainly prosecutors want people to plead guilty.  But threatening and then 

punishing people with an extra two decades in prison for exercising their constitutional right to a 

trial is not the right or just way to do it.   

Defendants Michael Walli, Sister Megan Rice, and Greg Boertje-Obed, were originally 

charged by a Grand Jury on August 7, 2012 on three counts: (1) depredation against government 

property under 18 U.S.C. § 1361 [punishable by up to ten years imprisonment]; (2) attempting to 

injure property in the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States under 18 

                                                        
1 Gary Fields and John R Emshwiller, “Federal Guilty Pleas Soar as Bargains Trump Trials,” 
Wall Street Journal, September 23, 2012, available online at: 
http://online.wsj.com/article/SB10000872396390443589304577637610097206808.html. 
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U.S.C. § 1363 [punishable by up to five years imprisonment]; and (3) misdemeanor trespass 

under 42 U.S.C. §2278a(c), 10 C.F.R. §§ 860.3 and 860.5(b) [punishable by up to one year 

imprisonment].  See Indictment [Doc. 2].   

In an attempt to persuade defendants to plead guilty to two of these three charges, the 

prosecution threatened to charge defendants with a more serious crime, that of sabotage under 18 

U.S.C. § 2155(a),2 if they refused to plead guilty and instead chose to exercise their 

constitutional right to a jury trial.  Sabotage of national defense carries a prison sentence of up to 

twenty years.  See 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a).  Despite such threats, defendants elected to plead not 

guilty and to exercise their Sixth Amendment right to a trial before a jury of their peers.  

Consequently, on December 4, 2012, as retaliation against defendants for exercising their 

constitutional right to a trial, the prosecution charged defendants with the additional, more 

serious crime of sabotage under 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a).3  See Superseding Indictment [Doc. 55].   

                                                        
2 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a) reads as follows: 

(a) Whoever, with intent to injure, interfere with, or obstruct the national defense 
of the United States, willfully injures, destroys, contaminates or infects, or 
attempts to so injure, destroy, contaminate or infect any national-defense material, 
national-defense premises, or national-defense utilities, shall be fined under this 
title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both, and, if death results to any 
person, shall be imprisoned for any term of years or for life. 

3 Specifically, the Superseding Indictment charges that the defendants:  
aiding and abetting each other, with the intent to injure, interfere with, and 
obstruct the national defense of the United States, did willfully injure, destroy, 
and contaminate, and attempt to injure, destroy and contaminate national-defense 
premises, specifically, buildings and grounds of the Y-12 National Security 
Complex, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2155(a), 2151 and 
2.   

See Superseding Indictment, Count One [Doc. 55].  Note that this charge replaced the charge of 
misdemeanor trespass under 42 U.S.C. §2278a(c), 10 C.F.R. §§ 860.3 and 860.5(b) in the 
original indictment [Doc. 2].  Conviction under § 2155(a) for damage to national security 
defense materials carries a prison sentence of up to twenty years.  Thus, the prosecution in effect 
potentially added a possible twenty years to defendants’ sentences by indicting them with the 
new charge under the sabotage statute for exercising their right to a trial.   
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Thus, in effect, the prosecution sought the new and significantly more serious charge 

against defendants as a punishment for their refusal to plead guilty and election to go to trial as is 

their right under the Sixth Amendment.4  A longstanding and fundamental principle in our justice 

system provides: “To punish a person because he has done what the law plainly allows him to do 

is a due process violation of the most basic sort, and for an agent of the State to pursue a course 

of action whose objective is to penalize a person’s reliance on his legal rights is ‘patently 

unconstitutional.’”  See Bordenkircher v. Hayes, 434 U.S. 357, 363 (1978) (citing North 

Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 738 (1969); Chaffin v. Stynchcombe, 412 U.S. 17, 32-33, n. 

20, (1973); United States v. Jackson, 390 U.S. 570 (1968)).   

This type of punishment against a defendant for exercising his or her legal rights amounts 

to prosecutorial vindictiveness, which has been held to be violative of a defendant’s due process 

rights and thus unconstitutional.  For instance, in North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 725 

(1969), the United States Supreme Court held that the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment “requires that vindictiveness against a defendant for having successfully attacked 

his first conviction must play no part in the sentence he receives after a new trial.”  Similarly, in 

Blackledge v. Perry, 417 U.S. 21, 27 (1974), the Supreme Court applied this same principle to 

prosecutorial conduct and held that Due Process prevented a prosecutor from reindicting a 

convicted misdemeanant on a felony charge after the defendant had exercised his right to appeal 

the misdemeanor conviction when there was a “realistic likelihood of ‘vindictiveness.’”   

Based on these precedents, it should logically follow that the prosecution’s actions in this 

case of reindicting defendants under a significantly more serious charge as retaliation for 

lawfully exercising their right to go to trial constitutes a violation of defendants’ due process 

                                                        
4 See U.S. Const. amend. VI (“In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a 
speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury . . . ”). 
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rights.  Due Process of law requires that a person charged with a crime is entitled to exercise his 

constitutional rights to plead not guilty and to have a jury trial, “without apprehension that the 

state will retaliate by substituting a more serious charge for the original one, thus subjecting him 

to a significantly increased potential period of incarceration.”  See Blackledge v. Perry, 417 U.S. 

21 (1974) (citing United States v. Jackson, 390 U.S. 570 (1968)).  If a prosecutor initially makes 

a discretionary determination that the interests of the state are best served by not seeking more 

serious charges against a particular defendant, then changes his mind after the defendant decides 

to exercise his right to trial, due process requires that the prosecution justify its action on some 

other basis than as punishment for defendant’s exercise of his right to trial.  Id.  See also North 

Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 725 (1969). 

It is true that the United States Supreme Court held in a 5-4 decision in Bordenkircher v. 

Hayes, 434 U.S. 357 (1978), that the Due Process Clause is not violated when a prosecutor 

carries out a threat made during plea negotiations to have the accused reindicted on more serious 

charges if he does not plead guilty to the offense with which he was originally charged.  As 

pointed out in Justice Blackmun’s strong dissent, this holding was completely at odds with the 

principles asserted in Pearce and Perry.  Bordenkircher, 434 U.S. at 365-66 (J. Blackmun 

dissenting).  The majority in Bordenkircher justified its departure from the earlier cases based 

solely on the “give-and-take” nature of plea-bargaining where there is “no such element of 

punishment or retaliation so long as the accused is free to accept or reject the prosecution’s 

offer.”   Id. at 362.  However, as the dissent points out, “[p]rosecutorial vindictiveness in any 

context is still prosecutorial vindictiveness.  The Due Process Clause should protect an accused 

against it, however it asserts itself.”  Id. at 368.   
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Defendants urge this court to recognize that punishing a defendant for exercising his legal 

rights even in the context of plea bargaining is violative of the defendant’s due process rights.  

The absurd results of the majority’s holding in Bordenkircher mandate such recognition.  The 

defendant in Bordenkircher was initially indicted for forging a check in the amount of $88.30 

which carried a two to ten year prison sentence.  434 U.S. at 358-59.  During plea negotiations, 

the prosecutor offered to recommend a five-year sentence in return for defendant pleading guilty 

and waiving his right to a jury trial.  Id.  During these negotiations, the prosecutor also threatened 

the defendant with reindictment under Kentucky’s habitual criminal statute if he did not plead 

guilty.  Id.  Under the habitual criminal statute, defendant would face a mandatory sentence of 

life imprisonment because of his prior criminal record.  Id.  Despite such threats, defendant chose 

to plead not guilty and insisted on his right to trial.  Id.  Consequentially, he was reindicted, 

found guilty, and sentenced to life imprisonment.  Id. 

Defendants in this case face an equally absurd and draconian result as life imprisonment 

for forging an $88.30 check.  Sister Megan Rice, Michael Walli, and Greg Boertje-Obed passed 

through four fences in a several hour walk into the Oak Ridge Y-12 Nuclear facility where, upon 

arriving at the Highly Enriched Uranium Materials nuclear facility, they symbolically disarmed 

the building and its surroundings.  For such peaceful actions, they now face up to thirty five 

years in prison with the addition of the new sabotage charges—twenty of those years as a result 

of punishment for exercising their constitutional right to plead not guilty and go to trial.  

Common sense reveals the injustice of this and dictates the need for change. 

In this case, the prosecution threatened to reindict defendants with a more serious offense 

if they did not plead guilty to the crimes they were originally charged with.  When defendants 

refused to plead guilty, the prosecution punished them with the superseding charges.  Further 
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indicating the retaliatory nature of the superseding charge is the fact that this nuclear sabotage 

charge under 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a), in its seventy-three year existence, has only been applied to 

civilians involved in nonviolent civil disobedience and who cause damage to government 

property in a handful of cases, for example the Eighth Circuit case of United States v. Kabat, 797 

F.2d 580 (8th Cir. 1986), and the Tenth Circuit case of United States v. Platte, 401 F.3d 1176 

(10th Cir. 2005).5  The overwhelming majority of cases involving the sabotage statute are 

military cases.  This in itself shows that the government rarely seeks this charge in similar 

situations as this, and thus underlines the vindictiveness of the prosecution’s actions in 

reindicting defendants under § 2155(a). 

Though plea bargaining clearly is the bedrock upon which the current criminal law 

system is built, adding extra charges to try to force a plea does not make it just.  It is wise to 

recall that in previous times it was OK to prosecute people who were not even represented – that 

was once thought to be acceptable but is no longer.  See Gideon v Wainwright, 372 US 335 

(1963).   Like with Gideon, it is past time to revisit the justice dimensions of this practice and 

this case makes an excellent vehicle for doing just that.6 

The decision by the prosecution is particularly chilling as an extra penalty for dissent.  

Defendants conducted a non-violent action challenging the US continued reliance on weapons of 

mass destruction.  If they did this in Iran or North Korea or Pakistan, the US would hail them as 

human rights champions.  But since they did it in Tennessee, the US not only prosecuted them 

                                                        
5 “The Government's attorney at oral argument advised us that to his knowledge the present cases 
represent the first civilian prosecutions under section 2155. I believe the prosecutor overreacted 
in charging sabotage.” See Kabat, 797 F.2d at 599 (J. Bright dissenting). 
6  William J. Stunz, “Bordenkircher v Hayes: The Rise of Plea Bargaining and the Decline of the 
Rule of Law,” Social Science Research Network Electronic Paper, available online at: 
http://ssrn.com/abstract=854284.   
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but now seeks to impose the extraordinary penalty of an extra twenty years in prison because 

they insist on exercising their right to trial of their protest actions.   

These prosecution actions fail the fundamental fairness test which is the foundation upon 

which all the rights in the Constitution are based.  The scandal of upgrading weapons of mass 

destruction is enhanced and enlarged by the scandal of additional prosecution for exercising their 

constitutional rights.   

In Berger v. United States, the United States Supreme Court recognized that the 

government’s interest in a criminal prosecution “is not that it shall win a case, but that justice 

shall be done,” and that it is therefore a prosecutor’s duty “to refrain from improper methods 

calculated to produce a wrongful conviction. . . . ”  295 U.S. 78, 88 (1935).  Common sense tells 

us that punishing defendants for exercising one of their most fundamental constitutional rights 

falls within this ban on improper prosecutorial methods.  Therefore, defendants respectfully 

move this court to dismiss this retaliatory charge and protect defendants from obvious and 

unconstitutional prosecutorial vindictiveness in this case.  

 
B. This Case Represents Wrongful and Selective Prosecution  

In Violation of the U.S. Constitution 
 

In light of the above, it also abundantly clear that the prosecution’s decision to recharge 

defendants with national defense sabotage constitutes selective and wrongful prosecution which 

is unconstitutional.  Because selective prosecution offends the U.S. Constitution, it is a complete 

defense to a criminal charge.  Selective prosecution occurs when a person is prosecuted based on 

an immutable personal characteristic, such as race or religion, or in response to some 

constitutionally-protected act that a person has done prior to the criminal charge being brought 

against him.  See U.S. v. Brown, 862 F. Supp. 2d 1276 (N.D. Ala. 2012). 
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 Defendants assert that their reindictment under the sabotage statute constitutes selective 

and wrongful prosecution because (1) other non-violent, nuclear protestors engaged in symbolic 

actions are not generally prosecuted under the sabotage statute for similar conduct; and (2) these 

defendants have been intentionally and deliberately singled out for prosecution under these very 

serious sabotage charges simply for exercising their Sixth Amendment rights to a trial by jury. 

 As indicated above, defendants are among just a handful of civilians who have ever been 

prosecuted under 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a) in its seventy-three years of existence.  The statute is 

overwhelmingly applied to military personnel, not civilians engaged in nonviolent and symbolic 

civil disobedience.  

 Additionally, defendants in this case have been intentionally singled out by the 

government for prosecution under the sabotage statute simply for exercising their constitutional 

right to a jury trial.  As set forth in detail above, the government explicitly threatened defendants 

with reindictment under the sabotage statute if they did not plead guilty to the original charges.  

Despite such threats, defendants chose to plead not guilty and exercise their constitutional right 

to a trial by jury.  The government wrongfully responded by reindicting them with sabotage 

charges and adding a possible twenty years to defendants’ sentence.   

 

C.  The Sabotage Act is Unconstitutionally Vague and Overbroad as Applied Here  
 

 Defendants also assert that the application of the sabotage statute in this case is so vague 

and/or overbroad that it denies defendants their right to due process of the law as guaranteed by 

the Fifth and Sixth Amendments.  As the Supreme Court has made clear, 

where a statute is so vague and uncertain as to make criminal an utterance or an 
act which may be innocently said or done with no intent to induce resort to 
violence or on the other hand may be said or done with a purpose violently to 
subvert government, a conviction under such a law cannot be sustained. 

Case 3:12-cr-00107   Document 72   Filed 01/18/13   Page 9 of 13   PageID #: 547



 10 

 
See Herndon v. Lowry, 301 U.S. 242, 259 (1936). 

Under this standard, if Section 2155(a), which requires an “intent to injure, obstruct or 

interfere with the national defense,” can be applied to both real acts of sabotage by those 

intending to do harm to the United States and these defendants’ non-violent, symbolic acts, then 

it is unconstitutionally vague and overbroad.  As such, 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a), as applied to these 

defendants in this case, is unconstitutional and therefore defendants should not be prosecuted 

under it.  This is particularly true in this case where specific meaningful discovery on the charge 

has not occurred.  

 
 

D.  The Sabotage Statute Does Not Apply to Defendants In This Case 
 
Defendants next assert that the government’s charges of sabotage should be dismissed 

because the sabotage statute defendants are charged under should not apply to these defendants 

because Y-12 is not a military base, but is run by private contractors.  To be prosecuted under 18 

U.S.C. § 2155(a), a defendant must, “with intent to injure, interfere with, or obstruct the national 

defense of the United States, willfully injure[ ], destroys[ ], contaminate[ ] or infect[ ], or 

attempt[ ] to so injure, destroy, contaminate or infect any national-defense material, national-

defense premises, or national-defense utilities.”  See 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a).   

The term “national defense” as used in § 2155, though not defined in the statute itself, has 

been interpreted consistently by the courts as a “generic concept of broad connotations referring 

to military and naval establishments and the related activities of national preparedness.”  See 

United States v. Kabat, 797 F.2d 580, 586 (8th Cir., 1986), cert. denied, 481 U.S. 1030; United 

States v. Melville, 309 F.Supp. 774, 780 (S.D.N.Y.1970) (quoting Gorin v. United States, 312 

U.S. 19, 28 (1941)) (emphasis added).   
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 The Y-12 facility is not a military base or establishment.  It is operated and managed by 

private contractors, as admitted on Y-12’s own website: “B&W Y‑12, a partnership of the 

Babcock & Wilcox Company and Bechtel Corporation, operates Y‑12 under contract to the 

U.S. Department of Energy, of which the NNSA is a part.”7  Because Y-12 is run by private 

contractors and is not a military base, section 2155(a) cannot apply to defendants’ actions at the 

Y-12 facility. 

 

E.  The Production, Processing, and Storage of Nuclear Weapons  
Violates Both United States and International Law 

 
Finally, defendants reassert and apply their arguments from their original Motion to 

Dismiss [Docs. 44 and 49] to the new charges under the sabotage statute.  Defendants reassert 

that the sabotage charges against them must be dismissed because the production, processing, 

and storage of nuclear weapons is illegal under both United States and international law.   

 The use and threat of use of the nuclear weapons of mass destruction that are being made 

and refurbished at Y-12 are unlawful and criminal under U.S. law as they constitute genocide 

and the commission of a war crime under 18 U.S.C. § 2441.  Furthermore, U.S. international law 

and the laws of war prohibit the use of these weapons of mass destruction being produced and 

processed at Y-12.  Thus, due to the ongoing illegality of the activities going on at Y-12 under 

both U.S. and international law, defendants’ actions in nonviolently exposing and protesting the 

use of these weapons was reasonable and justified.  Though the Magistrate already ruled on this 

issue, defendants re-urge this here to protect the record.   As such, defendants’ actions cannot 

and should not be prosecuted as sabotage under 18 U.S.C. §§ 2155(a) and 2152. 

 
                                                        
7 “About Y-12,” available at http://www.y12.doe.gov/about/. 

Case 3:12-cr-00107   Document 72   Filed 01/18/13   Page 11 of 13   PageID #: 549



 12 

F. Conclusion 

For the reasons set forth above, defendants respectfully request that this Court dismiss the 

sabotage charges against defendants under 18 U.S.C. §§ 2155(a) and 2152.  Under these new and 

retaliatory charges, defendants now face an additional twenty years in prison.  Both justice and 

law tell us this is wrong and require the dismissal of these charges. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
/s William P. Quigley    
William P. Quigley, admitted pro hac vice   
Loyola University New Orleans   
7214 St. Charles Avenue   
New Orleans, LA 70118   
Quigley77@gmail.com   
504.710.3074   
   
Chris Irwin   
BPR 025478   
POB 20363   
Knoxville, TN   
Attorneys for Michael Walli   
 
/s Francis L. Lloyd, Jr.   
Law Office of Francis L. Lloyd, Jr.   
9111 Cross Park Drive   
Suite d-200   
865-470-4077   
865-978-6504 Fax   
FLLloydJr@gmail.com   
Counsel for Defendant Sr. Megan Rice   
   
Greg Boerte-Obed   
Pro Se   
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Certificate of Service   
   
I certify that this document was served on all parties by filing it electronically on January 18,   
2013.     
  
    /s William P Quigley   
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